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“New Thai,” a modern nation
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Bangkok witnessed a major change in the reign of King Rama VII due to a
global economic crisis and its transition into democracy. In terms of architecture,
Thai students were sent to study architecture overseas, and they became
important changemakers of the cityscape, replacing foreign architects in the
former era. These foreign-educated Thais have created many remarkable
buildings that we see today, and these are “Modern” architectures that
portray our society in the post-industrial era. The design focuses more on
functionality, and such design has become a symbol of democratic society in
Thailand.
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New Mansion of Prince Svasti Sobhana:
Built in 1930 in the reign of King Rama
VIl as a new residence for Prince Svasti
Sobhana (King Rama VII’s father-in-law),
the mansion was later occupied by Regent
to Thailand Pridi Banomyong after the
political reform. The building is made of
reinforced concrete and is 3 stories high,
with a simple design. It is one of the most
modern architecture of its time.

m The Chang Mansion
A 19 Phra Athit Rd.
@ Not Open to the Public
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D | EIFX Sukhumala Health Center
(Bangkok’s 2nd Red Cross Center)
T ) 80 Atsadang Rd.

© 8.00am-4.00pm Mon-Fri

154 t, 022215778

sluuusnntinanssudndnaglutieiaiben
VsaanetmsuuLAaaan sufluiifeiu
afusannadl e-o WngyalAsu Ay
Tassadwuisumiin wsndsuiuaaunin
\FumAnfiiFeudnedu wasfinisaanausie
arldaan1sUseaulseanas

ATUNAYIUNITDBNULLDIANTBNYAYLBIBNTA
\winauds Ade Anfingu niifoyswn L07 B
afwiulugaiiandu daqiiuldigninasmuauda

Sukhumala Health Center (Bangkok’s 2nd Red
Cross Center): Built in 1928 in King Rama VII's era
from the funds raised in the royal funeral of Queen
Consort Sukhumala of King Rama V, it is located at a
square in the middle of Phraeng Phuthon, a business
complex. It is a two-story reinforced concrete build-
ing. The first floor had examination rooms, and the
second floor housed nurses’ dorms. It was designed
by Charles Béguelin, a French-Swiss architect who
worked in Thailand.

A

~— 3outdsoin: R

ATDHIIU TUEIUUWSVNSS

vnuBaufiuungonss atnduunziudnamyunomny
nsev agdiile uaznsviavy Asugaulnsundaens

and uazunenevd AilsAuegAUUIANuiTa9EnadY
wouil deidusamsiladiu Ae (JudnduelSvinduludlad
Au wdaflulrAunduiulngiBasiau: uaiduduliunsis
fundesnsntuuauiidunsfupanidasifoaniias 3
Wugasianns uuudSoludutuuniad miauldlsieddas
i5o uanifipedu

fafudoiiuinamiendldndreduldfon Suise
209tuiinn wiathan tindaviananadneiinfiunsiuun
sousiafodaEungansing

wdnehduldudounputingq Audqefisudaly.. S
lafiulgng lafunzAlusnuiuasfigunsvnssdnatng

Wueilsas! Bunspuasy aulugnuiaaioanmnuat
uzdn

ALWIUVANNAT 877 wmo LUAT
flwiinuny e,000 G
aounlduApUNIALEZUINGN
Ansenavazniuausasndadu
elZannuls
Tasvadvazniuianuiiuasudonsounn
saenfulasunandalesnnuuuinsiey
udneaz AL Fuuy uasduans
anvugadneiunassvzalueAnaniyse
1FuniuinlAsyasvluy Through Truss

azwiuws:wnsgaawiawilan g

afwiuiaifusyasalluasmaaningednuindundasy
59U oo U Wil wewe aludaniadl o Iagususniunse
fingesnsngazafoiReonssususNTyaaTaseniat o
\WaseAnTol sundndedannumssunsuivilii

UANTUWIZAUWILWETBASIAS U NIILaURINAITASIS
grwuduwiindanszanan dudsslaminda gaedoy
fosuiruidonssunsiingrudu ilstimnuadyaany
faenlniednztuanaasuiitntine uaslisshugo
W‘i‘:i_liu'i’m’mﬂﬂ’ﬁﬁaﬂﬁL’EOH:W’]uLLV]u PINFHSWIREN
puaFdan agliifuaisnsuils:lanilag Frannegnu
AsegAauasyAtiulny

Az narnuLArayanTERFaATILALA © ey
wewe (Fudng) uadn o Wousaun Apluuf we
figuieu ARanisUiRdsunlasnisinasaegseuay
tszanBilloe

Memorial Bridge: Built in 1932 to mark the 150th anniversary
of Bangkok, the government at the time commissioned Dorman
Long & Co, a world-famous company from €ngland, to design this
bridge. Their most famous work is the Sydney Harbour Bridge in
Australia which was being constructed at the same time.

The layout of the bridge, roads, and gardens form the shape
of an arrow, which was King Rama VII's emblem. The bridge is the
bow, and the tip of the arrow points towards the Thonburi side.
The U-shaped end points towards the Bangkok side, and King
Rama I's statue is located on this side. This bridge is very strong
and durable as it is a through-truss bridge.

ﬂK Memorial Bridge

) Tri Phet Rd.
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National Museum of Australia
State Library of New South Wales
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Chalerm Krung Theatre: King Rama VII
had Chalerm Krung Theatre built on the
occasion of Bangkok’s 150th anniversary
celebration in 1932, at the same time the
Memorial Bridge was built. It is located on

a road extended from the Memorial Bridge.

The building is box-shaped with clean-cut
edges and a cut-off corner used as the
entrance hall. This reinforced concrete
building was designed by a Thai nobleman
with a degree in architecture from fFrance.
It was the best cinema in the city at the
time and the first air-conditioned movie
theater in Asia.

m Chalerm Krung Theatre

ﬁ 66 Charoen Krung Rd.

@ 9.00am-6.00pm

. 02 224 4499, 02 225 8757-8,
02 623 8148-9

b www.salachalermkrung.com
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IHEX Banglamphu Museum

) Phra Sumen Rd.

© 8-30am-6.00pm Tue-Sun

02 281 0345-51
ww.banglamphumuseum.treasury.go.th
§ pipitbanglamphu
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Printing School: Constructed in 1932
as Thailand’s first printing school, it was
later used as the Ministry of Education’s
printing house. It is a two-story concrete
building with an L-shaped floor plan. Its
style is simple and modern, and today it is
home to Banglamphu Museum which illus-
trates the stories of its Local community.
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Dome Building, Thammasat University:
The first building of Thammasat University,
the Dome housed the command center in
1936. It was remodeled from four existing
buildings which formed a single line,
connected into one building with a conical
spire at the top. The building has become
the icon of Thammasat University and is
known as “the Dome” despite the fact that
the top is a conical spire, not a dome.

IHX Dome Building,
Thammasat University
) 2 Phra Chan Rd.
@ 10.00am-3.30pm Mon-Fri
02 613 3880, 02 613 3840-1
www.tu.ac.th
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Court of Justice Building: Located by
Sanam Luang on the eastern side, it was
built in 1941. The design is Modern archi-
tecture as common in the post political
reform era. It is a large concrete box
which looks clean, calm, and strong.

It is one of the courts complex buildings
which have survived the mass demolition
in 2013.

LEUN W.A.ueEo UHUN W.Ameos

Court of Justice Building
) Ratchadamnoen Nai Ave.
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Democracy Monument: Constructed in 1939 in Field Marshal
Phibun’s era to commemorate the Siamese Revolution on June
24th, 1932, the Democracy Monument has been with Ratchadam-

noen Avenue for so long that it has become the image of this area.
It is also used as the National Highway’s Kilometer Zero.

lm Democracy Monument
ﬂ Ratchadamnoen Klang Ave.
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Commercial Buildings on
Ratchadamnoen Avenue: Ratcha-
damnoen Avenue was built in 1899
in King Rama V’s era, inspired by
€uropean avenues. The buildings
on both sides of the avenue were
built in 1939 during Field Marshal
Phibun’s government, designed by a
Thai architect who graduated from
Ecole des Beaux-Arts in Paris. They
are Modern buildings with a style
similar to Art Deco. These buildings
were built after the political reform
to make this area a commercial dis-
trict. There were various shops, two
Luxury hotels, one of which is Royal
Hotel, and the recently demolished
Chalerm Thai Theatre.
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University of Wisconsin-
Milwaukee Library
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Deves Insurance

) 97-99 Ratchadamnoen Klang Ave.

t, 02 080 1599, 02 670 LL4k
@ www.deves.co.th
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ﬂ 2 Ratchadamnoen Klang Ave.

Rattanakosin Hotel

. 02222 9111

?%‘ www.rattanakosinhotel.com
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People’s Party Society Building at
Saranrom Park: After the political reform
in 1932, the People’s Party, which led
the revolution, changed into a political

organization named People’s Party Society.

Its office was located at Saranrom Park in
a one-story, simple and modern concrete
building. At the entrance hall stood a
sculpture of an offering bowl, decorated
with mirror, holding the Thai Constitution
(similar to the one at the Democracy
Monument). At the time, Saranrom Park
was used as the venue for the annual
Constitution Celebration, a winter cele-
bration which took place on December 10
every year.
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Central Building, Poh-Chang Academy of Arts: This building
was built in 1946 after World War II. It is a Modern concrete
building with Thai elements such as gable roofs. At the entrance

hall, there are large cylindrical pillars with Thai-style decora-
tions. Currently, the building still remains in use.
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National Theater: A large building in the Old Town, the
National Theater was constructed in 1965 in a Modern design
with applied Thai elements. The layout is a T shape with two wings.

The theater, which is the main area, is at the center. It is topped
with traditional Thai gable roofs.

ﬂK National Theater

ﬁ 2 Rachini Rd.

© 8.30am-4.30pm Mon-Fri

. 02 224 1342, 02 221 0171

@ www.ntt.finearts.go.th
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Bangkok City Hall: Built in 1955, the
design inspiration came from the Stockholm
City Hall in Sweden, with a large bell tower
as its landmark.

Originally, the Bangkok City Hall was
also designed to have a clock tower, but
it was later removed from the plan. The
design followed a Western-style modern
architecture concept which focused on
simplicity without too much decoration,
with a touch of classic design which focused
on symmetry. There are also elements of
traditional Thai architecture. The building
embraces the inner courtyard.
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ﬂK Bangkok City Hall

ﬁ 173 Dinso Rd.

a 8.30am-4.30pm Mon-fri
02 221 2141-69

& www.bangkok.go.th/main
prbangkok
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Old Town and Modern Architectures in the Age of Americanization
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In the 1960s, Bangkok changed at a rapid pace, and the Old Town part
gradually grew less significant, becoming a thing of the past. New buildings
were erected, and they displayed evident influences of the new power - the
US - during the Cold War.
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The 2nd Public Relations Department Office:
Located on Ratchadamnoen Avenue, the former building
had been built since 1907 to house Badman & Co
store. It later became the office of the Public Relations
Department. The original building was torn down and a
new one was built in its place in 1963 using a folded
plate structure, made with cast panels of reinforced
concrete. It was considered an advanced technique of
that time.
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D H02 Nightingale-Olympic Mall
A | % 70 Tri Phet Rd.
'I' o 9.00am-5.30pm Mon-Fri
A 9.00am-6.00pm Sat

L 081 844 6248

@ www.nightingaleolympic.com
78] NightingaleOlympic
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Nightingale-Olympic Mall: This mall is more than
90 years old, opened in 1930. It was moved to the
current building in 1966. Nightingale-Olympic Mall
sells sport equipment, musical instruments, and
beauty products. The 7-story building has reinforced

concrete fins at the front facade, which was a trend at
the time. Inside, it still retains the 1960s style.
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) 2 Phra Chan Rd.
& 02613 2200
I www.tu.ac.th
§ ThammasatUniversity

H03 Thammasat Business School,

Faculty of Commerce and
Accountancy, Thammasat University,
Tha Phrachan Campus: Built in 1969
using a new structure without the
usual column and beam system, it was
constructed with diagonal reinforced
concrete structure, as seen in the
diagonal window frames. The building
sits on only 26 ground columns.

Thammasat University, Tha Phrachan Campus
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H04  Kasikorn Bank, Maha Chai branch
) 198 Maha Chai Rd.

@ Not Open to the Public

. 02222 3677

&/ www.kasikornbank.com

§ KBankLive
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Kasikorn Bank on Maha Chai Road: This building was constructed in
1971, designed as an ear of rice, which is Kasikorn Bank’s icon. The
architect molded concrete panels in an arched shape, which was a popular

trend at the time. Other Kasikorn Banks in that era all featured this style,
but their arches all looked different.

H05 Mazda Office building and warehouse
) Kamol Sukosol Electric, 663-665 Maha Chai Rd.
@ Not Open to the Public

02 222 2700-9
www.sukosol.com/pro-audio

@

Office building and warehouse
of Mazda on Maha Chai Road:
Located behind the office of Kamol
Sukosol Limited, a dealer of Mazda
at the time, the building was built
in the 1970s as Brutalist architec-
ture, with raw concrete similar to
the design of the Boston City Hall.
It was designed by the same
architect who designed the
Kasikorn Bank on the same road.
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Contemporary Architectures - are they Thai?
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There are not many contemporary buildings in the Old Town. There are
three main design concepts. The first is based on traditional Thai architecture.
The second is inspired by colonial architectures from the turn of the 20th
century. The last one is modern buildings following popular architectural
trends at the time.
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Scriptures Hall at Wat Maha That: This compact
Scriptures Hall was based on traditional Thai archi-
tecture, with a gable roof as seen in Thai temples. It
was built in 1972 and was one of the earliest works
of Sumet Jumsai, a renowned progressive architect.

NI wat Maha That

£} 3 Phra Chan Rd.

° 7.30am-6.00pm

¢, 02 2215999

@ www.watmahathat.com
82| § watmahadhatu
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Townhouses at the Foot of Pinklao Bridge: These
townhouses were built in the 1980s after the Bangkok
Bicentennial Celebration. At the time, old town conser-
vation and gentrification projects were in trend. The
design is inspired by Western architecture in the late
19th century, with wrought iron balconies. The town-
houses were designed by Sompong Panich and are now

used as a home, an attorney office, two guesthouses,
and a restaurant.

[EZK Townhouses at the Foot of IIEK The Old Siam Plaza
Pinklao Bridge ﬁ 12 Tri Phet Rd.
f chao Fa Rd. © 10.00am-7.00pm
. 02226 0156-8

€ www.theoldsiam.co.th
$ Theoldsiamshoppingplaza
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The Old Siam Plaza: The Old Siam Plaza is located
in a longstanding commercial district, Phahurat.
Formerly, it used to be home to Ming Mueang Market,
before it was demolished and replaced by a new
shopping complex in 1993. The new building has a
colonial design as popular in the late 19th century.
The lower floors are used as a shopping mall, and the
top floor is a penthouse. The project was designed by
Design 103.
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m Pridi Banomyong Library
) Thammasat University,
Tha Phrachan Campus, Phra Chan Rd.
© 9.00am-9.30pm Mon-Fri
9.00am-8.00pm Sat-Sun except public holidays
. 02613 3544
& www.library.tu.ac.th
§ ThammasatULibrary
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Pridi Banomyong Library: Located inside Thammasat
University, Tha Phrachan Campus, it was built by the
river in 1997 as an underground library with an inner
courtyard to bring in natural light. It was designed by

Sumet Jumsai’s company SJA+3D. Since it is located
by the river, humidity must be well controlled.
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In the 1980s, the Old Town grew old and shabby, leading to an idea for
gentrification to prepare for the Bangkok 200 years celebration in 1982.
This marked a significant milestone that turned Bangkok into a tourist spot,
and many old buildings were restored and repurposed. Bangkok is now one of
the most popular tourist destinations in the world today.
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Phraeng Phuthon was a real
estate development project which
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NI The Bhuthorn
ﬂ 96-98 Phraeng Phuthon Rd.
. 02 622 2270

@ www.thebhuthorn.com

took place late in King Rama V’s

comprising of around 120 shop
units, surrounding an open area
at the center which was used as

development concept of other

of the units have been preserved
until today and converted into
boutique hotels.

IIEK 1905 Heritage Corner
ﬂ 66-68 Phraeng Phuthon Rd.
. 02041 0102

@ www.1905heritagecorner.com

IIEK The Neighbor Phuthon
) 104 Phraeng Phuthon Rd.
. 081 345 7767

# neighbourphuthon

§ The-8huthorn-coffee-and-History ~ § 1905HeritageCorner

era to create a commercial district

a public space following the urban

European cities at the time. Some
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1905 Heritage Corner is a corner building which

also has only three rooms. It is meticulously decorated
to reflect a Colonial vibe.
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The Bhuthorn was a pioneer in this area. The cor-
ner units have been well-preserved as the owners are
architects. This boutique hotel has only three rooms,

decorated in Colonial style which takes its guests back
to the previous century.
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The Neighbor Phuthon, also the corner units, has
about eight rooms. It features a contemporary and

simple design. The back of the hotel has been renovated
and converted into a small courtyard.
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Farm to Table, Hideout: The location of Farm to
Table Hideout was originally a townhouse with a small
open space at the front. The building was constructed
in the 1910s in King Rama VI's era. The building
is surrounded by roadside shophouses built in the
1900s, towards the end of King Rama V’s era. It was
restored into an original townhouse, repurposed into
a restaurant on the first floor and an office space on
the top floor.

m‘ Farm to Table, Hideout II!IK McDonald’s on Ratchadamnoen
ﬁ 15 Tha Klang Lane ﬁ 77/1 Ratchadamnoen Klang Ave.
© 9.00am-8.00pm Thu-Tue © 2% hours

. 02004 8771 . 085 488 0544

f farmtotablehideout g www.mcdonalds.co.th
McThai
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McDonald’s on Ratchadamnoen: Opened in 1998, it
generated a big buzz as it was a fast food restaurant
housed inside an old building across the Democracy
Monument. It maintained the original building’s
architecture, and the McDonald’s logo at the front is
crimson instead of red in order not to be too loud.

It is open 24 hours a day.
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Ratchadamnoen Contemporary
Art Center (RCAC): This building
is one of the commercial buildings
on both sides of Ratchadamnoen
Avenue, built in the 1940s in Field
Marshal Phibun’s government. It
was designed by a progressive
Thai architect who had been
educated in France. In 2010,
the Office of Contemporary Art
and Culture, Ministry of Culture,
requested to use this building to
create an art center, which was
completed in 2013.

While the exterior had to be
maintained as original, the interior
was restored and walls were
removed to create a large open
area, while the upper floor was
opened up to add more ceiling
height. The venue is therefore
perfect for showcasing art pieces.

lm Ratchadamnoen Contemporary Art Center
(RCAC)

ﬁ 84 Ratchadamnoen Klang Ave.

@ 10.00am-7.00pm Tue-Sun

%, 02 224 8030

’?Eﬁ www.rcac84.com

f rcacds
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Bangkok City Library: Bangkok has been designat-
ed a World Book Capital 2013 by UNESCO. Therefore,
the Bangkok Metropolitan Administrator built a public
library by converting one in a group of old buildings
on Ratchadamnoen Avenue, giving it a new life while
still maintaining the original Modern architecture on
the outside.

Bangkok City Library

) 39 Ratchadamnoen Klang Rd.

© 8.00am-9.00pm Tue-Sat
9.00am-8.00pm Sun

&, 02 282 0680

\‘1 www.bangkokcitylibrary.com

190 'F bangkokcitylibrary
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Chern Hotel: This area was formerly a mansion of
funezavaszdnatin
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a royal family member, built in the reign of King Rama
V. In 1936, the palace was sold to a monk supply
business located near the mansion. In the 1970s,
since the building was in a poor condition, it was torn
down, and a series of shophouses was built in its
place. When the lease was up, these shophouses were
renovated into a modern hotel. The walls between the

units were torn down to connect the space. This hotel BITX chern Hostet

ﬁ 17 Soi Ratchasak, Bamrung Mueang Rd.
. 02621 1133 / 089 168 0212

’%\: www.chernbangkok.com

'F chernbangkok

has been in business since 2013.

> — > O



S5aallaows:uns Nk

vuauuuvIlEe 21829 UAUALIUADNTDY
innziilavinnuviet foffisousumgBnuvisiiie
\dasduiili Aasaanszunseongasedial
$unaiAIasvangunemilau fivthan (adu
sudlaunn) guianmilidmsueufiraudinoas
Juumevindlnatinviasifiequed
wsduiiy Anseilfiaguaailusnamdolng
ATBUATIARRFITTURNADY AU Apunduseiy
dnelagiidu FoldAuiiduiisilsdeu sawiy
A3 FelseBuu Uszamilygyn audesnd
weoc-wo WinlsvBuuduannll AsauAsIing
msim%mmuhsﬂmwmm wanadwiuviag
wogAT UL AnuAfelunnsWaLN
adonBunswdluaodu (mdsuluadeinaoy
a¥vppulaiu)
vasunafiadrelnifiduiuiodu oe Wae
wusifudasanuntinduouuumilsy o Wiav
wazsnuludn = Aav (Mﬂqmmﬁ@uﬁmum
mnmaaulwLLsmﬂ’Luﬂqquuu Anitfuanang
ABUNSALESLIMANGY @ Fu Tdusay nasauiu
anan) 1dpetapeliidnszazaniaday
$udn aunsemaduuinlinaaanunadlugo
#J mewo Mt
D | BIEK viua de Pranakorn
A| f 543 Maha Chai Rd.
T \. 02 221 1122

‘ www.villadepranakorn.com
f villadepranakorn

192

W, UW. nelfush ARAFITIU MU
o Fufllasensfiacimundiasunaiiv oe Wouso
nan Beflongsim ¢o Tud Wiiulsousung 14
naulgoedn o 11 uazilaliuinaslugag
\FauUNUALE weva Atuundias fauasifn
Angen1salladn o WWesENtoY SWBaRNmY
AU ew Wine

nsUFugediBsunaNNaNg ANAITTH
wéoo-ro suilntniluunfadendn Wiiu
TssusuirlAlalaléify 1¥neaslasenisuazanitn
\AanfiarsnunlasoaduarsrauniaLasuimnan
WUl wiwsivar v Tantianntiany annise-
nssualadlalaiflsadegnuanulfidatioasng
ANUFAniilaanadonig wniduiieafuanang
Tusaumanemddludruiiaadni Faaae
wizunsTeilgUdnsainnauaniifusinedse
AfulAv uraanouseaidunasliigsuale
yndediu

¢gofilssusudnuvslutnuisegi-dnyanuegs
i sutgennanndinuaaiinga meeo-ro e
\uriu uAeTsousuidy J08 ansuazluglinuly
wnAuls

Villa de Pranakorn: formerly a large mansion,
the original building was torn down in the 1970s and
a new 14-unit shophouse was erected in its place,
because of the real estate trends at the time. When
the lease was up, the third generation of the family
renovated the shabby building into a luxury hotel while
still maintaining the old reinforced concrete structure.
It was given a facelift with a colonial design which
gives the building a sense of grandeur, with cleaner
details to make it contemporary.
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Chao Phraya Sky Park: Located around Phra
Pokklao Bridge, it used to be a deserted Skytrain
bridge across the Chao Phraya River, abandoned since
1992. Recently, it was converted into a public park,
which was officially opened in 2020. This sky park was
designed by Landprocess by a famous urban landscape
architect Kotchakorn Voraakhom.

m Chao Phraya Sky Park
) Phra Pokklao Rd.
© 5.00am-8.00pm
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Bangkok, a United Nations city
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Bangkok has long been home to people from different races and backgrounds,
so not surprisingly, it has many religious sites from different beliefs — Islamic
mosques, a Sikh temple, a Hindu temple, Chinese shrines, and even a Japanese
mausoleum! Architectural influences from neighboring lands like Khmer, Sukhothai,

and Java also add diversity to Bangkok, making it a vibrant city as we know it
today.
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Chakrabongse Mosque: Located in Bang Lamphu, this mosque is an
important religious site for this long-standing Muslim community. They had
been moved to this community from Pattani (Islamic kingdom on the Malay
Peninsula) since King Rama I's era. The mosque that we see today was

built in the 1940s in a Modern and simple design. Later, the Arab-style
dome was added to add a touch of Islamic identity.
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Ban Tukdin Mosque: This
mosque is located behind Wat
Bowon Niwet in a Muslim commu-
nity which had been around since
Bangkok was first established,
along with Chakrabongse Mosque
community. The original mosque
was a wooden house, and was
burned down in 1982. A new one
has been built in its place, in a
style popular in the 1970s-80s.
It has a minaret topped with a
dome cap at the front, designed
by a seasoned Muslim architect
who grew up in the Chakrabongse
Mosque community.
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Gurdwara Siri Guru Singh
Sabha: The first Sikh temple in

Thailand, it is located in Phahurat,

which was the first Sikh commu-
nity where immigrants from India
settled down after World War IL.
This new building was construct-
ed in 1979 and has become the
landmark of this neighborhood. It
features a golden dome just like
the Golden Temple of Amritsar in
Punjab, India. Inside, there is a
large hall for religious activities
and ceremonies. At the top,
religious scriptures are kept.

Gurdwara Siri Guru Singh Sabha
) 571 Chak Phet Rd.

0 6.00am-10pm

. 094 324 9258

£ SikhTempleBangkokThailand
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Dev Mandir: A Hindu temple behind Wat Suthat, it
was formerly in Phahurat area, and was relocated to
its current spot. The new building was built in 1969
following the style of Hindu temples (Mandir) in North

India. It is used for religious ceremonies and festivities,
as well as for Hindu Samaj’s offices.
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D [{ZK Dev Mandir Chinese Holy Shrine

A ﬁ Hindu Samaj, 136/1-2 Siri Phong Rd. ﬁ Saranrom Park,

]- ° 8.00am-1.00pm Mon-Sat Charoen Krung Rd.
8.30am-11.30am Sun a 4.30am-9.00pm

A t, 022238494

@ devmandirbangkok.com

§ devmandirtemple
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Chinese Holy Shrine: Housed
inside Saranrom Park, this holy
shrine is ancient but was rebuilt in
the 1910s in King Rama VI's era. It
is a tall hexagonal Chinese pagoda,

3 stories high, with Chinese murals
drawn by Chinese artisans.

Japanese Mausoleum: Located
inside Wat Ratcha Burana near
Memorial Bridge, it was built in
1932 in a similar design as Kyota’s
Kinkaku-ji Temple. It is used to keep
ashes of Japanese expats who
came to work in Siam in the late
19th century until today.

A Japanese monk resides here

to perform religious ceremonies.
During World War II, Wat Ratcha
Burana was destroyed by a bomb,
but miraculously the building
remained intact.

Model of Angkor Wat: Since it
was not possible to move Angkor
Wat to Bangkok, King Rama IV had
an Angkor Wat replica built in a
smaller size in Wat Phra Kaeo.
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Im Japanese Mausoleum Model of Angkor Wat

£} Wat Ratcha Burana, 119 Chak Phet Rd. § The Grand Palace, Na Phra Lan Rd.
¢, 02221 9544 © 8.30am-3.30pm

@) www.watliab.com t, 02 623 5500 / 02 623 5499

£ Watliab @ www.royalgrandpalace.th
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D | EXEK Thawon watthu Building (Red Building)

Thawon Watthu Building (Red
Building): Located by Sanam
Luang, its construction began in
1895 to be used in a royal funeral
and a monks’ college. It was
designed by Prince Naris based on
Khmer architecture to show Siam’s
power over Cambodia. At the time,
Siam had a dispute with France
over Cambodia. The construction
was done in 1920. It was tempo-
rarily used as a library, but today
it is a venue for King Rama V’s
exhibition.
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The First World War Volunteers Memorial: Located in front of the
National Theater, the Memorial houses ashes of 19 fallen soldiers
who Llost their lives in World War [. The Memorial was designed by
Prince Naris, inspired by an old stupa in Sukhothai. At the time, Siam
was trying to incorporate Sukhothai into its history.
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In the Old Town, changes
were constant. Old buildings
steeped in history, whether
they were Thai or Western
in design, whether they were
shopping malls or theaters, or
even government offices, were
gradually removed, making
way for new things. The city
had to Kkeep evolving, and
change was inevitable.
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Elevated Open Pavilion at the Front Palace: Initially, part of
Sanam Luang belonged to the Front Palace, and at the wall of
the Front Palace, there used to be a royal pavilion, which was an
open wooden structure with no walls, built for King Pinklao, the
second King in the reign of King Rama IV. The purpose was for
this pavilion to be an observation point when there were marches
outside the palace. Later, the pavilion was removed in the reign of
King Rama V as more space was needed to expand Sanam Luang
into the oval shape that we see today.
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Burapha Palace: Built in 1875 early in King Rama
V’s reign as a residence for Prince Bhanu Rangsi
(King Rama V’s younger brother), it was the biggest
building at the time and one of the first Western-style
buildings. The layout was a U shape and the building
featured a classic style, designed by the famous Joa-
chim Grassi. Later, the prince’s descendants sold the
palace to a private company and it was converted into
a shopping mall.
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Badman & Co.: Late in King Rama V’s era, the King had a Western-style
building constructed at the corner of Ratchadamnoen Avenue, to be rented
out as a shopping mall. A British merchant rented the place and moved
his Badman & Co mall to this new building. The mall sold items imported
from Europe. Later, the Department of Public Relations moved its office to

this building, and in 1961, the old building was torn down and a new one
was erected in its place as the 2nd Department of Public Relations Office.
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B. Grimm Building at Sam Yot: B. Grimm building was a Western
building on Charoen Krung Road at Sam Yot intersection. B. Grimm, a
big German-owned department store business, rented this place to sell
luxury items imported from overseas. In 1917, Siam declared war with
Germany during World War [, and B. Grimm was ordered to shut down

and leave the premise to make way for new tenants. This building was
later torn down in 1969.
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Pridalai Theater: Late in King Rama V’s era, on the
premise of Prince Narathip’s palace (King Rama V’s
younger brother), Pridalai Theater was built. It was
a wooden theater, located along Phraeng Nara Road.
Inside the theater, on one side, there were boxes,
single seats, and row seats, with seats on the second

and third floors. The theater was destroyed in a fire
in 1946.
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Ming Mueang Market: Built in King Rama VII's
era, it was the central market of the city by Phahurat
Road. Ming Mueang Market was a Western-style
roofed market, featuring a large hall with a high
ceiling. It was constructed following an urban planning
concept, with shophouses surrounding the central
market. The market formed a U shape with hundreds
of shops Llining on both sides of the walkway. The
market later became old and worn out, and in 1978 it
was torn down. A new and modern shopping complex
replaced it in 1993, known as The Old Siam Plaza.
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Building at Khok Wua Intersection: This used to be a building, in the
same Lot as the other ones along both sides of Ratchadamnoen Avenue.
Over the years, various government offices occupied the building, and
later it was damaged in a fire during the October 14, 1973 uprising. It
had to be demolished, and a monument was erected in its place.
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B. Grimm Mall opposite Bura-

pha Palace: Prince Bhanu Rangsi
invested in the construction of this
building in front of his palace. The
area used to house a fort, and was
later rented by German business
B. Grimm. The business officially
opened in 1928. This new building,
designed by a French-Swiss
architect, was a reinforced concrete
building with two floors. It featured
a hip roof with a rising sun symbol
at the front of each gable roof, the
emblem of Prince Bhanu Rangsi,
the landlord of this building.
B. Grimm moved out of this building
in 1955 and the building was later
demolished. Currently, this area is
a parking lot.
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Chalerm Thai Theatre: Built
in the 1940s along with other
buildings on both sides of Ratcha-
damnoen Avenue, the construc-
tion had to be paused as World
War Il erupted. The construction
resumed in 1949, and it was
opened as a show theater, and was
later changed to a movie theater
in 1953. It featured a Modern
architectural design, similar to
other buildings on Ratchadamnoen.
Chalerm Thai Theatre was demol-
ished in 1989 to open up the view
of Loha Prasat (Iron Stupa) at the
back. At the time of the demolition,
Chalerm Thai Theatre was already
old and shabby, as the area was
no longer popular.
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Court of Justice Building: Built in 1882 in King Rama V’s
era, it was a Western building with a tall clock tower atop the
roof at the front. Later, the clock tower was removed as it had
begun to sink. This classic Western building was used by the

Ministry of Justice for 70 years before being torn down in 1960
and a new Supreme Court building was erected in its place.
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Former Supreme Court Building: Constructed in 1963 to
replace the former Court of Justice building which had been
around since 1882, the Supreme Court building featured a
Modern architectural design combined with Thai elements. It was

later demolished in 2013 and replaced by the current Supreme
Court building, despite strong opposition from many.
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New World Department Store: This modern
department store was constructed in 1984. It is 11
stories high, but the building permit actually allowed
only four stories. By the time the owner agreed to
tear it down, it is already 2004. Interestingly, during
the demolition, the Lower floors were still in service,
and when the building collapsed, many were killed and

injured, so the department store had to close down
and became deserted.
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01 City Gate in front of Wat Bowon Niwet
02 Pratu Phi (ghost’s gate) where dead
bodies were transported on their way to
funerals outside the city. The gate has
been demolished. Today, this area is known
as Samran Rat.
03 Pratu Chong Kud is a small door
in the wall, seen in the City Wall and the
Grand Palace’s wall, used as a service
entrance.
04 Ruins of an old palace’s gate on
Sumen Road, constructed in King
Rama I's era.
05 wat Pho's gate capped with a crown,
decorated with Chinese porcelains, which
was a popular style in King Rama III's era.
06 Wat Ratcha Bophit's gate is
guarded by soldier statues dressed in
a full Western-style uniform.

is a
Western-style gate in front of the Chakri
Throne Hall. The gate and building were
constructed at the same time.

still remains although the palace has long
been demolished. The gate was built in a
Western style.

was imported from Europe.

was
built by an Italian architect in the late 19th
century towards the end of King Rama
V’s era.

was built in the 1910s in King
Rama VI's era.
in the
community behind Loha Prasat.
is
decorated with gingerbread-style wooden
panels, a trend in the era of King Rama VI.

behind the Ministry of Interior today has
only perforated wooden panels remaining
at the top.
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